# CEO ROUTE TO THE TOP:

THE SOUTH AFRICAN EXPERIENCE

SpencerStuart



GORDON INSTITUTE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE

University of Pretoria

Spencer Stuart is one of the world's leading executive search consulting firms. Privately held since 1956, Spencer Stuart applies its extensive knowledge of industries, functions and talent to advise select clients — ranging from major multinationals to emerging companies to nonprofit organisations — and address their leadership requirements. Through 54 offices in 29 countries and a broad range of practice groups, Spencer Stuart consultants focus on senior-level executive search, board director appointments, succession planning and in-depth senior executive management assessments. For more information, visit www.spencerstuart.com.

# Contents

Foreword		2
Introduction		3
Laying the foundation for leadership		5
Building a career		6
Transitioning into the CEO role		9
The skills and attributes of the CEO		10
Strategy	Personality traits	
Linking execution to strategy	Getting the best out of people	
Listening and information gathering	Working with the board	
The challenge for CEOs in South Africa		18
The chief executive of the future — advice from the front line		21
Develop exposure to different functions	Gain international experience	
Know your industry inside out	Demonstrate leadership at all t	imes
Broaden your thinking outside the business		
A final word		25
Acknowledgements		26
About the authors		27
About Spencer Stuart		28
About the Gordon Institute of Business Science (GIBS)		28

1

### Foreword

In this study we draw on a series of in-depth interviews with chief executives of some of South Africa's most prominent businesses, as well as our own experience over many years advising individuals and organizations on strategy and leadership development.

Thirty-two CEOs of South Africa's top companies were interviewed. Eleven of these companies are listed in the top 50 companies in South Africa.

We trace the evolution of leadership, from its embryonic beginnings in childhood and adolescence through the different stages of a developing career to the crucial transformation of an operational mindset into a strategic one.

We examine the circumstances that led to these CEOs being appointed and describe the difficulties of transitioning from a senior management role into that of chief executive. We look at the competencies and experience necessary to be effective as an organization's leader, as well as the role played by motivation and self-belief. Finally, we identify the unique leadership challenges faced by chief executives in South Africa and pass on their advice to the country's next generation of leaders.

Chris van Melle Kamp Spencer Stuart, Johannesburg Karl Hofmeyr Gordon institute of business science

### Introduction

Many studies have been conducted to determine what are the key traits and skills of successful managers. Qualities such as drive, honesty and integrity, optimism and self-confidence are often mentioned and competencies such as communication, motivating others, developing talent, planning and organizing, and leading change are always included in studies of this kind. More recently, we see the emergence of concepts such as moral leadership, servant leadership and "Level 5" leadership which reflect the changes and challenges taking place in the business environment. Most of these studies have focused on middle and in some cases senior management, while less attention has been paid to the people at the very top of organizations.

Where chief executives have been the focus of attention, concepts such as visionary leadership and charismatic leadership are highlighted as important characteristics of successful executives. At the same time, we are aware that many chief executives are not "transformational" or "charismatic" and yet they are successful. An underlying theme of leadership research has been the notion of contingency — effective leadership requires an ability to be flexible so that one can adapt successfully to different situations. What could we learn about leadership in a local setting and how might this help others?

All the research undertaken has provided a framework which has guided our thinking about management and leadership, but much of the research has come from the United States and relatively few studies have paid attention to the chief executive.

This study set out to add to our understanding of chief executives in the South African environment. It would not focus on the traits and skills of these executives although these do form part of the findings. It would rather explore how these captains of industry rose to the top of their organisations. What factors helped or hindered them on this journey; what formative experiences paved the way for them; what advice would they have for other executives who might

3

aspire to the top job? The purpose of the research would not be to develop a new theory of leadership, but rather to examine in a practical way what it is that chief executives do to reach the top and what we can learn from their experience that could help others.

The CEOs who contributed to this study represent a truly diverse range of backgrounds and industry sectors. Their personal and professional experiences, though very different from each other in many respects, nevertheless contain a number of common threads which go a long way towards explaining why it was they, and not somebody else, who rose to the level of chief executive.

By their own admission, timing and good fortune often played a part, although it was never simply a question of being in the right place at the right time. Over the course of their careers these people had earned the respect of their bosses and their peers through a combination of outstanding execution, determination to overcome obstacles, strategic thinking and acting on the belief that the best results are achieved through other people as much as through one's own efforts. However, these qualities were not enough on their own; they needed to be accompanied by a mature temperament and a strong set of values established early in life. When the leadership opportunity beckoned, they were the obvious choice, even though few had set their sights on becoming a chief executive.

Some of the CEOs we spoke to acknowledge that they were probably identified early on in their careers as having high potential and were thus groomed for leadership positions (although no promises or guarantees were given). Others were thrust unexpectedly into the limelight before they were entirely ready or comfortable, but they had the self-confidence (as distinct from hubris) to assume leadership of the organisation in the belief that their personal and professional growth would keep pace with the challenges that confronted them.

# Laying the foundation for leadership

When asked about early influences, several CEOs described being given positions of responsibility at school, such as prefect, head boy/girl, Boy Scout troop leader or sports captain, often going on to assume student leadership roles at university. In these roles they began to learn how to get others to work together, how to handle egos and achieve success through team effort.

Participation in other extra-curricular activities could be just as valuable. One CEO recounts being chosen to sit on the junior city council which represented 48 high schools, eventually being elected junior mayor. Another described how, as a student, she worked on Saturdays as a tailor and on Sundays for a woman who worked with autistic children. This gave her a broader perspective on life than anything her university course could offer.

Families figured strongly, too. Several CEOs acknowledged that a family member, usually a parent or grandparent, had imbued in them a clear set of principles that remain with them to this day. "My grandmother was the most important person in my formative years," said one CEO. "She didn't have a secondary education, but the reason she was so important to me was her values: being honest and fair to all people at all times and having a clear conscience."

"Mostly what the teachers said was: 'whatever you do, go and get an education'."

Without exception, education was of paramount importance. "My grandfather insisted that the least qualified among his children should have a diploma," said the CEO of a large utility. "So when I grew up, I had role models. He would say, 'forget this liberation thing and focus on education. You come from a privileged family and you must remember never to turn a blind eye to those who are less privileged than you.' I spent much of my youth with elderly people, and all of them were trying to instil in me an appreciation of the responsibility and the burden that comes with leadership."

# Building a career

The CEOs we interviewed had an assortment of academic backgrounds and started their careers in very different ways. They range from trained accountants and academics to professional soldiers and management consultants. What they had in common during the early part of their careers was their openness to new opportunities, their desire to excel at whatever tasks came their way and their passion for continual learning and self-improvement.

The CEO of a large retail company recalled that his employers saw "someone who doesn't give up and who is prepared to volunteer for anything. If someone said, 'drive my car from Durban to Johannesburg', I would drive the car from Durban to Johannesburg and try to do it well. I didn't ask what's in that for me, how much are you going to pay me and what are the growth opportunities?"

Throughout his early career, another of the CEOs interviewed made a conscious decision to take every opportunity going to stretch himself in order to develop a rounded set of skills. "I think it's the one reason I got ahead. I put my hand up for the toughest things, even if it meant stepping back or sideways."

Another interviewee, who led the financial services practice at a leading consulting firm and became only the fourth female partner in the worldwide firm before moving to one of the big banks, commented that her driving force early on was to work in a place where she could make a difference and continue to grow. "I thought that if I just did my best and outperformed, things would naturally work out for me. My mindset from the outset was 'work hard, train hard, and let the best one win'. Gender bias spurred me on, but rather than fight the system I decided that I was simply going to prove myself. My approach was to focus on delivering excellence myself at all times and then fighting for proper assessment. Fortunately the assessments at the consulting firm were transparent."

"The more potential other people saw in me the more I saw in myself."

Not long after joining his company, one respondent was asked to go and run its African division, which at that time comprised 17 countries. "I was young and all of a sudden I went from running a business that had 30 people in the team to one with an asset base of several billion Rand and thousands of people. I was thrown into the deep end. The first thing I had to do was to articulate the vision for the business and what direction it should take, making sure that it was consistent with the rest of the group. I had to create a three- to five-year plan and define the objectives that would need to be met to get us there. I had to figure out the best organizational formation. Since the way to implement this sort of change is through people, I had to identify very quickly who would buy into this plan and who wouldn't, and then communicate it in all the countries. I also had to spend a lot of time talking to regulators, ministries of finance and the leaders of the teams on the ground."

This example of a young executive being given general management and P&L responsibility for a tranche of the business early in his career was echoed by many other CEOs who were always prepared to take on tasks outside their experience and comfort zone. Not only did this boost their confidence, but it brought them all-important recognition from senior management and the board, a critical stepping stone for any prospective CEO. "If you ever get the opportunity to run a geographically remote location of a big company, you should seize it with both hands," said one CEO, "because what tends to happen is you get more exposure to the top management of the company than you do if you're immersed somewhere in head office."

"When someone decides you are worthy of consideration to be CEO, there's only one question, which is 'how have they performed in their other responsibilities?'"

One of the CEOs we interviewed had trained as an electrical engineer and worked as a consultant and case team leader for a mining company. He then joined a leading retail company as executive assistant to the CEO in a programme that took people with diverse experience outside the sector and turned them into retailers, something very few companies did at the time. His experience encapsulates the combination of fortuitous timing and willingness to take a substantial

leap into the unknown that characterize the careers of many of the CEOs we interviewed.

"I started off in a development position, but when an emergency happened and someone left in the middle of a merger they felt it was too risky to bring someone in from the outside and I was the best internal candidate. I was spare, available and had earned some trust. You could argue it was an irresponsible decision. I'd never run anything, I'd not previously worked in retail and the largest number of people that had reported to me up to then would have been three. But my success in that job really built my career because when I got there the business was declining in profitability and when I left it was the fastest growing division in the company."

Another CEO spent four years as a professional musician before he joined the family business, at which point he realized that if he was ever going to run a big business he had to work in one: "I kind of grew into being a CEO. I didn't see any obstacles. I just took on more and more responsibility and handled bigger and bigger assets. Every time I was presented with a career option, I chose the option that I would learn from rather than the option that gave me more money or more power."

# Transitioning into the CEO role

Regardless of whether their appointment is the inevitable conclusion of their career trajectory or whether they take on the leadership mantle unexpectedly, all CEOs are bound to experience a few shocks in their early days in the post. However much they ready themselves for the role there are some aspects of the job they can never fully prepare for in advance. It is therefore wise to allow a period of time, maybe just 30–60 days, to absorb the nature and extent of the challenge ahead. "My advice would be to understand and digest how the business works before embarking on any significant change."

The fast pace of running a business in the information age requires stamina and takes plenty of getting used to. Juggling expectations from the board, the management team and the organization as a whole, to say nothing of investors and stakeholders, can be wearing. So can dealing with media scrutiny, especially if it turns hostile (the help an experienced head of communications or corporate affairs is invaluable here).

The area of financial management will occupy a great deal of the new CEO's time as he or she gets to grips with the financial levers of the business. Most CEOs would agree that investing time in their relationship with the CFO is essential. It is probably the most critical of all the relationships within the executive team, and even if the CEO has a finance background, he or she will have much to learn from the CFO. Their alignment on financial, strategic and board issues will be critical.

### The skills and attributes of the CEO

Despite the wide range of academic backgrounds, professional training and career tracks that can be found among members of the CEO community, their experiences converge to the extent that they have achieved recognition for outstanding performance and that they have developed a set of skills and attributes that marks them out from their peers. By the time they have reached the point of being considered for the chief executive role, they will have demonstrated operational excellence, an ability to think and act strategically, the capacity to relate to and work with a diverse spectrum of people, and a character that combines inner strength, resilience and conviction with humility, integrity and emotional intelligence.

These are essential building blocks, not guarantees of success; the real learning takes place on the job, once the initial shock of adjusting to the pressure, pace and the accountability of being CEO wears off. In this section we examine the core skills and attributes that CEOs need to embody. Further on we look at the specific challenges facing chief executives in South Africa (page 18).

### **STRATEGY**

The ability to think strategically, set the strategic direction, plan and then execute the strategy are fundamental skills for any CEO. Formulating strategy requires good research, an honest appraisal of the business's strengths, weaknesses and competitive positioning, and a deep understanding of the wider industry and where the exploitable opportunities lie.

"If you are not clear on strategy, all you are doing is running the company on a day-to-day basis. And that's not being a CEO."

In our discussions with CEOs we found that many of them struggled to identify specific learnings, events, or moments in their careers that marked a shift from operational to strategic thinking. They developed their strategic antennae over time, as a result of multiple inputs, and sometimes as a result of suddenly and unexpectedly being thrust into a leadership role. In some cases, CEOs appear to have been more strategic in their approach simply by nature or because of early exposure to this kind of thinking. They seem to have attained a level strategic sophistication through a variety of learning experiences.

For some CEOs, their first real exposure to strategy came when studying for an MBA or doing strategic planning in the military. Others spent time in consulting firms and benefited from the structured training in commercial and strategic disciplines on offer, which gave them a theoretical and modelling platform for use throughout their career. According to one, "this provided a set of templates for business analysis and strategic thinking and taught me the discipline of assembling lots of data into useful information for the purposes of both strategy and persuasion."

Another CEO stressed that a critical prerequisite for formulating appropriate strategy is a thorough understanding of the business and a strong grasp of operations. "The only way you figure out that security is a strategic issue in your bank is if you understand how the computer systems work and what breaches can happen. You can't really speak with conviction on strategic issues unless you fully grasp how rating agencies work, how debt gets measured, the role of debt versus deposits and so forth."

"To be able to formulate the appropriate strategies ... you need to have a very strong grasp of operations."

If strategy and operations are flip sides of the same coin, then the future strategist needs to avoid getting siloed and make every effort to gain the broadest possible exposure to the business, incorporating knowledge and experience of the organization into the strategic process — what one CEO refers to as "formalizing the aggregation of learning". CEOs also need to develop the ability to detach themselves from operational matters and to think clearly and objectively about the business and its environment — to learn to "distil essence out of noise".

#### LINKING EXECUTION TO STRATEGY

Several chief executives were quick to point out that strategy has little value without strong operational follow-through. "It's one thing having all these great plans," said a CEO in the advertising industry, "but can you make it happen, can you convert vision, great ideas and position papers into reality?" Another went as far as to say that you only have to get strategy eighty per cent right, but execution must be one hundred per cent, on the basis that "if you're executing well, you will outperform any strategic goal."

# "My role as CEO is the motivation and alignment of others and providing the right environment for them to succeed."

The importance of stepping back and enabling others to put the strategy into action was a theme that CEOs returned to frequently during our conversations. They described their leadership responsibility in terms of creating a healthy environment in which others can flourish, building and empowering the right team to bring the strategy to life and ensuring that everyone has ownership of it. Learning to disengage from the detail and let go can be extremely difficult, but as one CEO put it, "a leader's job is ninety per cent people. Your job is to get results through others. You are a team builder, so show them confidence and let them shine."

Empowering direct reports and their teams to concentrate on execution releases the CEO from being over-immersed in the detail. The CEO of an FMCG group believes that there is an important balance to be struck between "deep diving into every area of the business and integrating a whole host of elements, issues, and processes that give you both the micro and the macro view."

### LISTENING AND INFORMATION GATHERING

Information gathering is an essential part of the CEO's job. It is perfectly normal for CEOs appointed from inside the business to find that many of their usual sources of intelligence about the organization begin to dry up and that the information flow from managers is heavily filtered. Actively seeking out alternative sources of information and listening with an open mind becomes vitally important. "You have to have the correct monitoring points," commented the CEO of a large mobile communications company.

"Be accessible, open and don't put people down. Simply listen and act on what you've heard."

For many CEOs, getting to the truth about what is happening inside the organization means being accessible and developing a rapport with staff at all levels. It means creating an environment where people will tell the CEO what is going on, not what they think the CEO wants to hear. "I go and sit in the canteen wherever there's a space and ask what's going on," said one. "The conversation at table used to change when I arrived. Now, it doesn't. It blows away all of these artificial barriers. You want people to be open with you. These are the same people I have to talk to when we're hitting tough times, when we don't make those numbers. So if I run into somebody and ask 'How come sales to this particular channel are falling apart?' it becomes a discussion, not an interrogation."

Another CEO dedicates every Friday to operations. "Your understanding of operations reinforces your strategy. You cannot sit there, smoke cigars and forget about your people. So I put on my operational clothes and talk to people on the ground to find out what obstacles they face every day, in their lives and at work."

Another aspect of listening is being open to critique. One of the interviewees commented that the practice of 'second partner review' that she got used to in her consulting career made her willing to have others critique her work. "As CEO you have only got one pair of glasses and you can develop a very narrow view of the world. If you have a CEO who doesn't like to have his or her work looked at from different perspectives and changed for the better, you've got a problem."

### PERSONALITY TRAITS

The list of traits that one might expect to find in a CEO is a long one. Rather than attempt a comprehensive summary, we have selected a few highlighted by CEOs during our conversations.

Sensitivity, emotional intelligence and understanding the impact of one's behaviours are all necessary for operating in the current socio-economic environment which is dominated by sustainability issues and multiple stakeholder interests. Allied to these qualities is the ability to hold difficult conversations in a way that is constructive and not demoralizing.

"You've got to build credibility with people and there will be some you've got to convince more than others. They may accept an idea, but they don't necessarily embrace it."

The pressure of being a CEO at a time of relentless change and complexity ("one is on edge all the time") calls for a great deal of resilience. Knowing that you can't please everyone and learning to deal with criticism (which will inevitably come from outside if not from within) are both useful traits.

In our conversations, many CEOs spoke of the danger of an inflated ego and the need for humility. "If you keep on telling yourself that you walk on water, you have a problem." Confidence is a necessary trait in a leader, but as a seasoned CEO pointed out, success over an extended period of time can lead to a dangerous loss of perspective (and potentially a loss of reputation). "Confidence is just a hair's breadth away from complacency, which is just a hair's breadth away from arrogance — which leads to failure or downfall."

"The long term impact of autocratic leadership is an enormous weakening of the gene pool of talent."

Without an attitude of humility it is easy for the CEO to forget that business success relies on interdependence and the efforts of many. An overly forceful personality can easily alienate rather than motivate. As the CEO of an insurance company put it, "the new generation coming through doesn't respond well to the controlling, egotistic, bombastic, leadership style. They just don't buy into it."

#### GETTING THE BEST OUT OF PEOPLE

The CEOs we interviewed were unequivocal about placing the recruitment, development and retention of top-quality senior management high on their list of priorities. "Attaining competitive advantage and attracting international capital requires that we continue to select and retain the right people, and create a framework which enables us to make the most of their skills and keep them at a high performance level." CEOs who surround themselves with first-rate people are demonstrating a combination of humility and confidence. They do not mind being challenged by people who are at least as smart and gifted as they are, neither do they feel threatened by them.

"The thing that I would judge leaders on more than anything else is the calibre of the people they appoint as their direct reports."

Several CEOs stated that human capital issues occupy at least half of their time. Ensuring the leadership team shares the same values and creating an environment for people to continuously improve are both important aspects of the CEO's role. As executives grow professionally they add value to the organization and are motivated to stay. In her early days as CEO of a large project management firm, one interviewee invested a lot of her time in building relationships, not just at management level but throughout the organization. "Building trust is vital, but once it is there loyalty becomes self-sustaining." As another CEO put it: "Inspiration isn't some big evangelical speech. It's about what happens when you spend time with people."

Most of those we interviewed had been appointed to their first CEO role from inside the organization, although by no means all had been part of a formal succession planning process. One CEO who believes that it is preferable to

make internal appointments wherever possible is surprised at how often good internal people are overlooked because of how familiar their colleagues are with them (and with their weaknesses). "People appoint someone from the outside who is great at interview but if they really knew them, they might decide that the internal person was a better choice."

According to one interviewee, the most difficult decisions for a CEO tend to be about people, as well as some of the most fundamental mistakes: "Either recruiting and promoting the wrong people or not providing space and protection for the right people." Holding managers accountable and being good at removing non-performers are also seen as necessary for the health of the business. "You make sure that people have the space to do what they're supposed to do," said another, "and if you've given them time and they don't do it, you must deal with them."

# "Mastering the ability to have power at your disposal without coming across as a threat is important."

Being able to recruit the best people is a key skill, but being able to manage them effectively is quite another. 'Soft skills' are as important a part of the CEO's armoury as technical or financial skills. "I wish I'd known then what I know now about EQ as opposed to IQ," said another CEO from the financial services sector. "It is one of the areas that leaders will increasingly focus on, because putting a bunch of really bright people together doesn't mean they are going to work well as a team. Having some emotional intelligence and a deeper understanding of the impact our behaviour as CEO has on those around us can really make a difference." One way the CEO can build the team ethos is by sharing the credit when things go well. "Success has many fathers. You should allow people to stand up and say 'we did it', rather than proclaim the success as your own."

For one, being a CEO requires constant vigilance and attentiveness. "The difference between you and the rest of the team is that you have to add value in every situation. Everyone who walks in has got to get something out of the discussion. That's the difference. That's the pressure."

### WORKING WITH THE BOARD

Developing a close working relationship with the board, and in particular with the chairman, requires the full attention of a CEO. Building directors' trust through accountability, openness and frequent communication makes it easier for the CEO to work with disagreements when they arise. One of the CEOs commented that "I make sure I meet the chairman at least twice a month and have one-to-one meetings with the other board members at least every six to nine months. This creates an equilibrium which enables views to be aired in a constructive manner. If you try and fight a board, you're always going to lose."

This equilibrium can only be realized, however, if the board is clear about its role and if the chairman manages the board agenda and debate deftly. The board will get the best out of the CEO and senior management team if the prevailing atmosphere is constructive and a proper balance is struck between challenge, support and supervision.

The CEO does not have to leave it entirely to the chairman to create the right board dynamic. One way that the CEO of a consumer goods company builds trust and openness with his board is by arranging for the directors to meet all his direct reports over lunch at least twice a year. "I encourage the directors to discuss with my senior team where they are and how they work with me. It creates a culture in which people are able to unburden themselves and raise sometimes minor, sometimes major issues. It doesn't mean I don't get irritated — I think, why didn't he come and tell me about that? Why did he have to go and raise it with the board first? But I have to have the humility to digest the information and find the right way to deal with it."

# The challenge for CEOs in South Africa

The socio-economic backdrop for businesses operating in South Africa adds a layer of complexity that is unique to the country and with which chief executives must be fully engaged. Business is more highly regulated here than in other comparable markets. Social investment, black economic empowerment and the broader transformation imperative all demand close attention and play out in countless ways that would be bewildering — and deeply frustrating — for chief executives in other settings. South African business leaders have to contend with a set of issues that their peers in other markets do not and they must possess a number of additional attributes to match. As one CEO put it, corporates have "a disproportionate role to play in the repositioning of the country, compared with other countries."

"We have this dual role of trying to run a business and preserve the stability of the social fabric."

Human capital development is a vital issue for South African business, just as it is for the society as a whole. Managing change within a company carries significant risks and chief executives must be seen to address the many nuanced transformation and diversity issues with patience, sensitivity and understanding. Given the economic divide in the country, they need to bring motivation and hope, possessing high levels of empathy and insisting on unquestionable ethics and integrity in all their company's dealings.

"The only way a business can survive is by satisfying the reasonable needs of all stakeholders."

One CEO who took a course at Harvard Business School was struck not only by how much younger he and other South Africans in similar positions were than their counterparts in more mature markets (due in part to talent shortages and less specialization), but also by the fact that he was concerned about a range of issues that others on the course had never had to think about.

Operating under a set of constraints that would be foreign to CEOs in other markets, South African CEOs have to balance shareholder interests with wider stakeholder concerns that have the potential to derail the business unless they are fully integrated into the CEO's thinking. "Things are getting tougher. Whenever you have to make a decision there are always three other levels of measurement or screening that you've got to go through before you can make that decision. Elsewhere, things are less complicated." Business decisions, especially those that carry a human capital dimension, can have longer-term social consequences in South Africa, which makes them difficult to reverse at a later stage.

# "Most CEOs are not paying enough attention to the external environment."

Among the difficulties that South African chief executives wrestle with is the continuing skills shortage. While this means more opportunities for some, the potential wider economic consequences of these shortages have resulted in companies having to assume responsibility to educate and train people from a broad demographic. The accelerated progress made by many young executives in this environment can bring a positive dynamic, although several chief executives warned that businesses should be careful not to lose institutional memory during the course of this generational change.

As one chief executive pointed out, the perception in some quarters is that business in South Africa has not yet entirely shaken off the legacy of its past. Therefore it is incumbent upon any business to define its role in society clearly and take the necessary actions to fulfil that role. "If certain issues affecting the majority don't get addressed, there may be serious repercussions for the business community, whether it be higher taxes or levies; and business will be blamed for the lack of jobs."

# "There are big issues at play. As a CEO you have a responsibility to society, you have a responsibility to South Africa."

Chief executives of South African businesses come under considerable pressure to play a public role, to be seen to be driving the transformation agenda. Not every chief executive is comfortable sticking his or her head above the parapet on social issues, preferring to let the results speak for themselves. So much is expected of business as the harbinger of progress and change that some CEOs believe it is essential for leaders to go on the front foot, to communicate the extent (and also the limit) of business's contribution to the country's social, economic and political fortunes. "Sitting defending our position," as one CEO put it, is not enough. Another regrets not having played a more prominent role in Business Leadership South Africa, citing the words of a friend who said: "You must put in the effort to get your views heard, otherwise you cannot complain when things go against you."

Despite the socio-economic pressures on businesses, South Africa remains a land of opportunity. There is significant potential for expansion and growth both inside and outside the country and, as one CEO remarked, competitive pressures are probably less acute in South Africa than in the UK and parts of Europe. One CEO remarked that in his world, "change is an expectation". The transformation that has taken place in the country over the past two decades has meant that adjusting to change has become second nature and many CEOs see this level of adaptability as a distinct advantage for businesses in the country.

# The chief executive of the future — advice from the front line

Asked what advice they would give to aspiring executives, our interviewees were clear: don't aspire to become a chief executive.

"Aspire to be as good and as successful as you can be at what you are doing right now."

It is one thing to believe in a vision for a business and to have the desire to lead people to achieve that vision. It is another to want to be a CEO to satisfy the ego or a desire for power. Rather than thinking about becoming a CEO, aspiring executives need to concentrate on their current role, making sure to do it to the best of their ability. "Push the boundaries", said one, "don't just deliver what's expected, deliver the unexpected. Go the extra mile." Another interviewee had a similar message: "Whatever you're doing, it doesn't matter what it is, try to be the best. If I give you something to do, I want you to deliver it to me finished and with some other things that I hadn't thought to ask you." On career management, one CEO remarked that "If you're going to do any career planning, just write down the ten experiences you need and make sure you have them."

### DEVELOP EXPOSURE TO DIFFERENT FUNCTIONS

The CEO needs to be knowledgeable about the work of different functions in the organization and how they relate to each other. That knowledge can be picked up in different ways. Having first-hand experience of several functions during the course of a career is the best way to gain an understanding of the challenges they will face and the contributions they can make; direct experience is also a good way to build empathy for those working in functional teams. Another way to build this understanding is by taking the opportunity to work in cross-functional teams. Beyond that there are plenty of additional opportunities for a curious

executive to seek out peers in other functions and learn from them. Given the importance attached to motivating and empowering executives, a stint in a progressive, talent management-orientated human resources department would also benefit any prospective chief executive.

"Be prepared for the fact that being CEO is not easy — however well you think you know the company or the role."

#### KNOW YOUR INDUSTRY INSIDE OUT

Since most first-time CEOs come from within the same industry, if not the same company, by the time they are appointed they should have developed a thorough understanding of every aspect of the industry. "Understand what is happening in the business, where the influence is, what your competitors are doing," said one. "Understand how investment analysts are looking at your business and what ratios they are interested in." Another CEO worked hard to become a member of as many professional associations as possible, which helped her gain exposure to different kinds of organizations and institutions. "This was all part of becoming a CEO and then being successful once in the post."

# AN ASPIRING CHIEF EXECUTIVE SHOULD SEEK OUT

- Having P&L responsibility for all or part of a business
- 2. Gaining international experience
- 3. Hiring a team and leading it towards a goal
- **4.** Moving into a different function or joining a cross-functional team

### BROADEN YOUR THINKING OUTSIDE THE BUSINESS

With the country's socio-economic pressures having such a significant impact on a South African company's domestic operation, it is essential for CEOs to have a clear appreciation of the role that their businesses play in society. Getting involved in activities that lie beyond the company's immediate interests — including not-for-profit work — puts the aspiring executive in touch with communities and issues that they may not otherwise encounter. The perspective that can be gained from exposure to community issues will serve the future leader well.

### GAIN INTERNATIONAL EXPERIENCE

As South African businesses increase their global footprint, so the requirement for international experience among the senior management teams grows. Even if a business remains focused primarily on the domestic market, insights gained from working overseas can provide a useful benchmark and broaden a chief executive's access to new ideas and strategies that might be applied in the domestic context. As one CEO remarked, "It's important — imperative, in fact — for aspiring executives to try and work abroad, to get a feel for different countries and different challenges and to understand what's going on in the global marketplace."

- **5.** Becoming active in an industry association
- **6.** Mentoring at least one high-potential executive
- 7. Contributing to an industry-wide initiative
- **8.** Exposure to social investment or not-for-profit community initiatives
- **9.** Taking on a challenge requiring a "leap into the unknown"
- **10.** Acquiring strong operational experience before taking on a strategic role

### DEMONSTRATE LEADERSHIP AT ALL TIMES

CEOs have to be conscious of their leadership impact, be prepared to lead by example, and be capable of inspiring and motivating others, especially during tough times. "Develop a thick skin and prepare yourself for criticism — unrelenting, profound, pervasive and long-lasting criticism," said the CEO of a large bank. Remaining calm and resilient under pressure is also essential, according to a CEO who had many years of experience in the hot seat: "How you handle yourself as a leader in adversity is far more important than how you handle yourself in times of success. It's easy to have integrity when you can afford it and things are going well. It's only when you are under duress that you really get tested."

Strong communication skills are expected of any leader and it is never too early in a career to start honing them. Learning to listen to people inside and outside the organization with a sympathetic ear is a good starting point, taking pains to understand their environment and the pressures they are under. "When formulating any communication," said the CEO of an advertising agency, "be sure to convey the message concisely and to the point."

A last piece of advice comes from a seasoned CEO in the IT industry, whose advice to the aspiring CEO is: "Build great teams and execute well. It's all about the people, it's not about you."

### A final word

Would we expect similar findings in other environments, in other countries? Do the traditional theories of leadership apply in a South African setting?

Many of the observations made by the chief executives would be similar if the research had been undertaken in the US or Europe. Themes such as formative experiences while at school or university, the influence of role models, the need to be open to new experiences and challenges, striving towards excellence, understanding the P&L and the business model, the need for relevant experience as one moves up the organization, for example, are probably universal. The underlying theme of our research, namely that "it's all about people" would also be found consistently elsewhere. South Africa is not so different that a completely new kind of leader makes it to the top. Similarly, the leadership theories which make reference to visionary and transformational leadership, or the need for strong management alongside effective leadership, can be applied locally. Of particular relevance is the notion of a contingency mind set: successful leadership will take place when the style and approach of the leader is flexible and is appropriate to the demands of a particular situation. Old style "command and control" leadership, applied in all circumstances, will not work in South Africa, just as its limits have been recognized in other parts of the world.

The study does, however, draw attention to some of the specific local challenges: the need to balance shareholder interests with wider stakeholder concerns; severe skills shortages; a complicated socio-economic environment of business; the pressure to "transform"; the often adversarial relationship between government and the private sector; and particularly high levels of regulation. What this tough environment has done is to produce senior managers and chief executives who reach the top at a relatively young age, who have to balance many conflicting demands, and whose skills and qualities are honed in a pressure-cooker business environment. Their "route to the top" has been demanding, but it serves them well to take their place alongside the best CEOs in the world.

# Acknowledgements

Spencer Stuart and GIBS are grateful to the following CEOs who agreed to be interviewed for this report and were generous with their time and their insights.

Roy Anderson Mpho Makwana

Doug Band Sipho Maseko

Reinher Behrens Peter Matlare

Tom Boardman Ben Mophatlane

Mary Bomela Nicky Newton-King

Sifiso Dabengwa Ben Ngubane

Brett Dawson Phuthuma Nhleko

Monhla Hlahla Neville Nicolau

Roger Jardine Thandi Orleyn-Sekete

Ian Kirk Grant Pattison

Tjaart Kruger Cyril Ramaphosa

Mark Lamberti Andre Roux

Russell Loubser Mike Teke

Wendy Lucas-Bull Sim Tshabalala

Saki Macozoma Johan van Zyl

Danai Magugumela

### About the authors

### CHRIS VAN MELLE KAMP

Chris van Melle Kamp is a member of Spencer Stuart's Financial Services, Energy: Oil, Gas & Utilities, Life Sciences and Board Services practice groups. He has executed assignments in these sectors across various executive functional roles as well as CEO, country manager and board positions.

Chris joined Spencer Stuart in 2002 from the Gordon Institute of Business Science (GIBS) where he was one of the four founding directors. Working closely with local and multi-national companies and international business schools, such as London Business School, Ashridge, Cranfield, Harvard, Stanford, Stern, INSEAD and HEC in France, Chris was exposed to best practice global business strategies and the leadership challenges facing senior executives today. He has been invited to speak at numerous conferences and seminars on Executive Search practice and on the challenges facing corporations in attracting top executive talent. Prior to co-founding Gordon Institute of Business Science (GIBS), Chris served at the U.N. in New York, in Namibia as a South African diplomat, and in Paris as deputy ambassador.

#### PROFESSOR KARL HOFMEYR

Karl Hofmeyr is a full-time Professor at the Gordon Institute of Business Science (GIBS). He was a Professor at the University of South Africa's Graduate School of Business Leadership until 1999. He has been a visiting Professor at the HEC business school in Paris since 1997 and an associate project director at Towers Watson (UK). Between 2000 and 2009 Prof Hofmeyr was Director of Company-Specific Programmes at GIBS. His academic areas of interest include organizational behaviour, leadership and transformation.

## More information

#### ABOUT SPENCER STUART

Spencer Stuart is one of the world's leading executive search consulting firms. Privately held since 1956, Spencer Stuart applies its extensive knowledge of industries, functions and talent to advise select clients and address their leadership requirements. Through 54 offices in 29 countries and a broad range of practice groups, Spencer Stuart consultants focus on senior-level executive search, board director appointments, succession planning and in-depth senior executive management assessments.

Spencer Stuart's office in Johannesburg is staffed with a highly diverse team of South African consultants and researchers who have an intimate knowledge of the country's business landscape. They have excellent relations with the full spectrum of South African business and government leaders and work on both public and private sector assignments. For more information on Spencer Stuart, please visit www.spencerstuart.com.

# ABOUT THE GORDON INSTITUTE OF BUSINESS SCIENCE (GIBS)

GIBS was established in 2000 to be a place where people with potential, healthy ambition and respect for best practice are willing to engage like-minded peers and colleagues. The campus and its facilities have been designed to create a learning environment in which we all stretch our thinking, challenge existing ideas and develop a personal and organizational sense of where we need to go next.

South Africa is a country that will continue to be challenged by the tension between its history and its future. Business leaders thrive on this tension as they look for opportunities to add value and generate prosperity for themselves and others. GIBS aims to be a business school for and from the business community. Positioned in Sandton, Johannesburg, GIBS partners with leading companies and is fortunate to attract to its campus the type of person who wants to make a significant impact. GIBS is a place of hard work, inspiration, insight and hope — all aimed at building the individual's, and the country's, competitiveness.

### **Worldwide Offices**

Amsterdam	Frankfurt	Montreal	Shanghai
T 31 (0) 20.305.73.05	T 49 (0) 69.61.09.27.0	T 1.514.288.3377	T 86 21.2326.2828
Atlanta	Geneva	Mumbai	Silicon Valley
T 1.404.504.4400	T 41 22.312.36.38	T 91 22 6616.1414	T 1.650.356.5500
Barcelona	Hong Kong	Munich	Singapore
T 34.93.487.23.36	T 852.2521.8373	T 49 (0) 89.45.55.53.0	T 65 6586.1186
Beijing	Houston	New Delhi	Stamford
T 86.10.6535.2100	T 1.713.225.1621	T 91.124.485.4444	T 1.203.324.6333
Bogota	Istanbul	New York	Stockholm
T 571.618.2488	T 90 212.381.86.41	T 1.212.336.0200	T 46.8.534.801.50
Boston	Johannesburg	Orange County	Sydney
T 1.617.531.5731	T 27.11.557.5300	T 1.949.930.8000	T 61.2.9240.0100
Brussels	London	Paris	Tokyo
T 32.2.732.26.25	T 44 (0) 20 7298.3333	T 33 (0) 1.53.57.81.23	T 81.3.3238.8901
Budapest	Los Angeles	Philadelphia	Toronto
T 36.1.200.08.50	T 1.310.209.0610	T 1.215.814.1600	T 1.416.361.0311
Buenos Aires	Madrid	Prague	Vienna
T 54.11.4310.9100	T 34.91.745.85.00	T 420.221.411.341	T 43.1.36.88.700.0
Calgary	Melbourne	Rome	Warsaw
T: 1.403.538.8658	T 61.3.8661.0100	T 39.06.802071	T 48.22.321.02.00
Chicago	Mexico City	San Francisco	Washington, D.C.
T 1.312.822.0080	T 52.55.5002.4950	T 1.415.495.4141	T 1.202.639.8111
Copenhagen	Miami	Santiago	Zurich
T 45 333.46700	T 1.305.443.9911	T 56.2.940.2700	T 41.44.257.17.17
Dallas	Milan	Sao Paulo	
T 1.214.672.5200	T 39.02.771251	T 55 11.2050.8000	
Dubai	Minneapolis/St. Paul	Seattle	
T 971.4.426.6500	T 1.612.313.2000	T 1 206.224.5660	

©2013 Spencer Stuart. All rights reserved.

For information about copying, distributing and displaying this work, contact permissions@spencerstuart.com.

